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This book is dedicated to all my mates who are no longer with us and will not have the opportunity to take the piss out of me as they read my story.
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INTRODUCTION


This is not just another story about an SAS soldier and how tough they are — that’s been done to death and, frankly, they all read the same.


This is a story about a life of struggle and adventure, about looking for the next challenge, about getting out of difficult situations and about making the best of the ordinary hand you’re dealt. This is my life story and it’s told simply and without exaggeration. This is me. I begin my story with my arrest in India for a simple, honest mistake. I only spent 24 days in that rat-infested toilet, but it was the hardest thing I’ve ever had to do (and I’ve been through a fair bit of shit in my time). During my stay in prison I had a lot of time to think about my life, what I’d done, what I’d seen and what I’d been through.


I was an SAS soldier — a warrior, the best of the best. While I was sitting in my cell I reflected on the SAS selection process, how I got there and how bloody tough it was. I thought about my childhood and how my father abandoned the family to a life of poverty and a daily struggle just to make ends meet. I thought about my brother’s death when I was 11 and how that had an impact on the direction my life took. I thought about the jungles of Borneo and how hot it was. But it was hotter trying to sleep in the police station on the night I was arrested.


I went through the last war in Iraq with CNN. I prepared the humvee in Kuwait until the crew and I were embedded with an American cavalry unit. I drove through horrendous ambushes in Najaf, caught an artillery barrage in As’ Samawah and got hammered on the freeway to Baghdad with a violent, brutal attack that never seemed to end.


In Papua New Guinea I killed a criminal. In the Solomon Islands a rebel tried to kill me. In Rwanda I watched about 4,000 people being butchered in one day.


I wrote most of these stories as diaries and mainly for therapy. I have no experience of writing. This is my story and I’ve called it ‘The Easy Day Was Yesterday’. The title comes from an old warrior who taught me a lot about the profession of soldiering and was responsible for selecting and moulding scores of SAS soldiers. ODC, as he is known, was as hard as nails and a great soldier. At the start of each day’s training, ODC would say, ‘Men, the easy day was yesterday.’ With that, we’d all let out a silent sigh contemplating the tortures that lay ahead of us. I’ve carried that mantra through life. Those challenges and difficulties I faced in my childhood and as a young soldier set the bar high and, while I’ve certainly faced some challenges since then, they can’t compare with those early years and so have proved far easier to negotiate. This, then, is my story.




1.


BREAKING POINT


July 2008. I am summoned to the Warden’s office by a prison guard — the usual nightshift, Ugly Prick, who speaks to me in short grunts. It is late and almost time to be locked back in the cage for the night, so this is not the procedure I have grown used to. I slip on my flip flops and stagger across the prison yard with Ugly Prick in tow, carefully stepping over the piss drains, rubbish pits and where some bloke, clearly suffering from a nasty dose of bronchitis, has spat a horrible green blob into the dirt. In fact, if you look closely, the yard resembles an oyster farm with green, disgusting mounds everywhere — fucking pigs. I look but don’t see. The crowd of prisoners parts and stares as I head towards the wooden door that separates the yard from the administration area. A guard stationed at the door pushes me aside and motions for me to get back to my cell. Well, at least that’s what I am able to determine from his hand gestures and the sound, ‘arrrrrrgggghhhhhyyy’. But another guard steps in and tells me to go to the Warden’s office. The first guard decides I need help through the door and gives me a good shove. I want to turn and give the fucker a beating he will never forget. I want to give him one of those savage prison-type beatings you see in the movies where one bloke just keeps on throwing the hits until the other guy’s just a bloody pulp. But then if I do that, I’ll never get out of here. So I turn and say, ‘Thanks for that, mate.’ He grunts, spits and walks off. I shuffle past the two prison clerks sitting behind an old table stained with tobacco juice. They wear a look of concern and whisper, ‘Mr Paul, there are doctors waiting to see you, be more sicker.’


‘Okay, fellas, thanks,’ I whisper back.


I enter the Warden’s office and he tells me to sit down. The Sub-District Magistrate (my new friend, Bala) is there and he says ‘hello’ to me in his very proper accent. I sit in the plastic chair and try to control my breathing. The walk to the Warden’s office is only 30 metres, but a diet of biscuits and water for 16 days and doing nothing but lying down all day is taking a surprising toll on my fitness. This, combined with the skin infections, ear infection, rat bites and flu, is really slowing me down. If a chance came to escape, I’d have to question whether I still had it in me.


Bala tells me I am going to court tomorrow. I nod. ‘If you plead guilty, you will be given maybe a six-month sentence, but the maximum is five years, so maybe it will be more,’ continues Bala as my heart skips a few beats. ‘So, you must plead not guilty, okay?’ I nod in agreement. Then he introduces me to the other two men in the room. These are the court-appointed doctors who start their medical examination of me while I try to pretend to be sicker than I really am. They take my pulse and blood pressure then examine my various ailments. One doctor uses a stethoscope to listen to my heart and, after a minute or so, declares all to be in order.


‘That can’t be right,’ I protest, ‘listen again.’ I grab the end of the stethoscope and try to jam it into my left atrium. Again, the doctor says I am fine. Bugger, I thought. This isn’t going well. Aside from those infections and some weight loss I was okay, but what I didn’t know was that Bala had already made it clear to them that I was to be transferred to the hospital tomorrow regardless.


‘Is everything okay, Paul? You don’t look well tonight,’ suggests Bala with a hint of concern. Oh no, I’m fucking great. There’s nowhere I’d rather be on a Friday night than this filthy shit hole. Oh, life doesn’t get much better than this, I thought.


‘I’m not feeling 100 per cent today, Bala, just a bit tired, I think. This has dragged on longer than I ever thought it would.’


‘Well, you should go back to your cell and get some rest, you have a big day tomorrow.’


‘Thank you,’ I said and, after weakly shaking hands with the less than helpful doctors, I leave the office.


When I get back to the prison yard, it’s dark and all the other prisoners have been locked in for the night. I can hear their murmuring voices and see them peering through the bars as I wander back through the ambient light towards my cage. I mull over the proceedings with the doctors. Had I done enough to ensure I would be sent to hospital? Were they convinced I was on death’s door? I didn’t think so. So I pick the only relatively clean piece of ground in the yard — the concrete area immediately surrounding the old water pump where we all wash. I stagger towards this spot and collapse in a heap. It is a beautiful performance, really something to behold. I go down like a sack of shit; not too hard, though, as I don’t want to hurt myself after all. The prisoners watching me erupt into screams. In fact, it sounds like every prisoner is watching and screaming. Roughly translated, they are probably yelling, ‘That white bastard has gone down!’


Guards come running, as do some prisoners who haven’t completed their daily duties and are yet to be locked up. As I lie there with people fussing about, I feel like a big girl. How has this become my life? I’m in prison, for fuck’s sake. I’m in prison in the poorest state in India for something utterly ridiculous. I thought I was better than this. Man, I really fucked up. Big time.




2.


BUGGER


The rickshaw ride was massaging my tired bones and calming my overworked brain. Standing up for six days teaching Nepali journalists was good fun, but bloody tiring and I was relieved to have 24 hours off to catch my breath. The training had finished after lunch and we were flying to the new location late the next day. Before Nepal, I’d been doing the same in Japan for a week, so I was really looking forward to a day off when I could just mooch around, catch up on sleep and not talk to anyone.


Ujwal, my Nepali interpreter and general guide for the duration of the training, suggested we get out of the hotel and maybe take a rickshaw ride to look at the Indian border. Ujwal wanted to show me the border and do a little shopping for his wife. Frankly, I couldn’t be arsed, and when I found myself still lying on my bed at 3.00 pm, I thought he’d forgotten about the whole idea. The border might have been interesting, but I just wanted to stay where I was and do nothing but catch up on sleep. A few years ago, I was in Lahore, Pakistan, and visited the border with India. There they have a parade on each side of the border where they open and close the border gates with real pomp and ceremony. The enormous soldiers from both countries try to outdo one another with their perfect drill. It’s quite a spectacle, draws lots of tourist and they even have tiered seating to allow people to get a better view of the display. But today I really just felt like relaxing and then maybe taking a lazy walk around town after a nap. I went for a decent run the day before but, on the final 200 metres, I managed to pull a muscle in my calf. I had a little bruising and a limp, so I was using this rest time to get my leg up and onto a bag of ice the lads in the kitchen brought for me and, yes, I felt like an old man. Ten minutes later, Ujwal knocked on my door, poked his head around the edge and said, ‘Shall we go?’


Ah bugger it, I thought. Perhaps a ride in a rickshaw might be interesting and at least I can say I’ve seen the Indian border from two different countries.


‘Yep, I’ll just grab my bag.’


I always carried my pack with me everywhere when travelling overseas, particularly in Nepal. The hotel we were staying in was the best in Biratnagar, but by normal standards it was very ordinary and the lock on the door wasn’t the best. So I always carried my valuables and lifesaving kit with me. My rationale was that, if the hotel was destroyed in my absence, I could still survive. So I carried my passport, plane tickets and money. This would ensure I could at least leave the country if everything else was lost. I also carried some bottled water and my camera for happy snaps.


Ujwal managed to secure a couple of rickshaws for the princely sum of about two bucks each, so away we went, with Ujwal and his rickshaw leading the way. We’d only travelled about a kilometre when we left the built-up centre of Biratnagar and travelled through beautiful flat farmland. The paddocks were green and the grass about two feet deep. If they didn’t worship cattle this would be great beef country. Not only was there plenty of grass, but there were waterholes every hundred metres or so. The cattle would thrive here; they’d be fat, lazy and happy. The cattle back in Australia have to walk all day for a reasonable feed and then all the way back again for a mouthful of water. This would be like a cattle version of a health spa for Australian cattle.


Water buffalos bathed in the muddy waterholes along the roadsides, farmers tended their rice fields and children played games on the verges. I managed to snap off a couple of shots of the scenery — it was unbelievably peaceful. Ujwal’s rickshaw stopped and he took my camera, getting some shots of me travelling along in my tiny, uncomfortable rickshaw. After three or four kilometres we started to move into more civilised areas. The open spaces and farms gave way to sporadic food stalls and houses until the farms were totally gone and we were in a crowded market area. I felt totally relaxed and was enjoying the ride as we wove our way through the crowds of people in the market. I got some good photos for the collection and decided just to chill, forget about work and enjoy my day off. I even managed a quick call to Zac (my youngest son) and told him where I was and that I’d be home in about five days. The markets were alive with smells, colours and sounds — these are the things I love about the subcontinent and they reminded me of the extraordinary markets in Karachi.


Ujwal’s rickshaw pulled up, so I directed my driver to pull up next to him. Ujwal was deep in conversation with his driver, so I sat there for a moment enjoying the hustle and bustle of the market. A frenzy of high-pitched chatter filled the air as 20 different people haggled for a better price with 20 different shopkeepers. I loved it and was glad I had got my lazy arse out of bed to have a look at this place. I was just thinking about doing some shopping for the kids when I heard Ujwal stop talking.


‘Wow, this is a great place mate, what’s the plan?’


‘Ahhhhh, we are at the border,’ Ujwal replied, his voice tinged with concern. ‘Really, where is it?’ I asked, looking south for something that would identify the place where the two countries met.


‘Behind us,’ Ujwal pointed to a boom gate with a raised arm, completely concealed by a massive mango tree.


‘What! Are we across the border? Are we in India?’ I blurted out in disbelief. ‘Yes, the border is just there, we rode through no man’s land. I didn’t know.’ ‘Fuck me!’ I spat. I got out of the rickshaw and took a pace back towards no man’s land and Nepal.


A man yelled at me from a small concrete building about 25 metres away and further across the border into India, so I stopped and looked at him. Then I had second thoughts: nope, screw you buddy, I’m outta here. The noise of the market seemed to fade and die as people paused in the midst of their haggling to watch what was happening. Two policemen stepped into my path. I contemplated running straight through these two fat coppers, but felt that twinge in my calf. Fuck it. The police directed me towards the angry man who was still yelling at me in Hindi. Again, I thought of running straight through the cops. Each brandished a very old .303 rifle and I was sure that, even if they took aim and fired, I’d still be safe at a distance of 10 metres. But then I reconsidered. I hadn’t done anything wrong and, besides, Ujwal was still sitting in his rickshaw and would be caught and the cops would eventually find me in Nepal.


Apparently the Nepalese and Indians are allowed to cross into each other’s countries freely, but the same laxity certainly doesn’t apply to foreigners. I was probably the first white man ever to sit in this rickshaw, so the drivers would’ve had no idea that I couldn’t cross the border. And where were the border guards and immigration? The seating and parade ground? Where was the fence or formidable barriers to indicate I was entering a different country? That old boom gate behind the tree surely couldn’t be it!


I was now more than a little concerned and wanted to kill Ujwal and the rickshaw drivers although, really, this was my fault. I shouldn’t have dropped my guard. I should have known exactly where we were. I should have briefed the rickshaw drivers and Ujwal so we all knew exactly what was going to happen this afternoon. I didn’t do any of that. I simply placed my destiny in the hands of virtual strangers and that was a mistake and something I would never usually do. I had been complacent and my complacency had led to this trouble. Damn, what an idiot!


‘No problems Paul, I’ll pay them off and explain it was a mistake, we’ll be okay,’ said Ujjwal as we walked towards the angry man and what I thought must be the immigration office, with two large police in tow.


As we approached the office I assumed it would be quickly sorted with a few laughs and a ‘fine’, but I was still filthy for putting myself in this predicament. I mean, we had crossed about five metres into India and hadn’t even got as far as the immigration office, so I was sure this wanker just wanted some money. Ujwal and I stepped into this small, dirty concrete building and were directed to two plastic chairs on one side of a tiny, filthy wooden desk. I took the seat next to the wall and Ujwal took the other. Then the angry guy just went off. He yelled all sorts of obscenities at us. He was a tall guy, maybe 185cm, in his late fifties, with thick grey hair combed back over his head. He had a wispy white beard that was well trimmed and obviously suffered from a terrible case of vitiligo that left his face marked with sporadic patches of uneven pigment. He spoke good English and spat words like ‘criminal’, ‘terrorist’ and ‘spy’ at me, all the while continuing to sell himself, and the very sheepish guy next to him, as immigration officers. Then he started on Ujwal, calling him a motherfucker and cunt and seemed poised to launch himself at Ujwal. The smaller, quiet guy next to him said nothing and seemed very embarrassed by everything, even trying to stop the abuse with calming hands. The angry man demanded my passport and, despite having it in my pack, I said I didn’t have it on me as I had no intention of coming to India. I thought if I gave it to them I’d never see it again. On hearing the news that I had no passport, he reeled back as though he’d heard something just too offensive to imagine. He frantically rummaged through his bag, fumbling around in search of something. Finally, he produced a recording device, put it in front of me and asked me to say that again.


‘Say what?’ I asked. Ujwal also started to say that this was ridiculous. The angry man interrupted by calling Ujwal a sisterfucker and telling him to shut the fuck up if he knew what was good for him.


‘Mister,’ he began, ‘am I threatening you?’ He didn’t wait for my answer. ‘You must answer the question, do you have your fucking passport you terrorist cunt?’


‘I’m not sure what you mean,’ I replied, stalling for time to consider my position.


On hearing this, the angry man entered a new level of rage. His face turned from spotted white and brown to bright red. He started to froth at the corners of his mouth and appeared ready to boil over. Then he let out a high-pitched scream.


‘I’M ASKING YOU IF YOU HAVE YOUR PASSPORT YOU FUCKING TERRORIST CUNT! DO YOU HAVE IT OR NOT?’


Ha, interrogation, I thought, is that the best you can do, you ugly old prick? I’ve been interrogated by much better people than you and managed to survive 72 hours, so good luck trying to break me, you old wanker.


‘Sorry, what is it you want?’




3.


INTERROGATION


In 1988, having successfully completed the SAS selection course and the four-week jungle training course, we entered the resistance to interrogation phase. I thought I was prepared for it, but nothing can prepare you for interrogation. We had just arrived back in Perth after the arduous eight-hour flight from North Queensland and were instructed to ‘get on the buses and make sure you have a seat to yourself’.


At around 10.00 pm the buses drove into the barracks at Northam and were ambushed by the Counter Terrorist Squadron. I watched as the driver was roughly manhandled from the bus and thrown to the ground. Two men dressed in black and wearing gas masks ran up the aisle of the bus yelling, ‘Look down!’ and ‘Put your hands on your heads!’ Anyone who was too slow to comply was belted over the head and persuaded into the required position pretty bloody quickly. I was seated up the back of the bus, so it was a few seconds before they got to me and gave my head a solid slapping for good measure.


Moments before the attack we had been sterilising our gear so we couldn’t be identified or linked to certain patrols. Col (a mate of mine from the 1st Battalion) expressed concern about his name written under the epaulettes of his jumper. We agreed that this might be a problem, but then he decided we were all being too serious and commented that they’d probably never find his name. We were expecting this interrogation exercise as the final phase of the patrol course and another test to gain entry to the SAS, so we prepared ourselves as much as we could. This included jamming as much emergency chocolate down our throats as we could take.


The men yelled and screamed in the aisle of the bus. When they told Col to stand up (he was seated in front of me) I thought they were talking to me, so I stood up as well. So Col and I are standing up together, but they only wanted one and it wasn’t me just yet, so they punched me in the head and screamed at me to sit down. I didn’t need to be told twice, and the unexpected punch all but put me back in my seat anyway. Col was dragged off the bus and then they yelled at me to stand up. I didn’t want to make the same mistake again so stayed where I was. This really pissed them off and they grabbed me and forced me to my feet using my hair as a handle. I felt a short jab in my left kidney as additional persuasion to behave. The bus was full of tear gas so I had tears in my eyes, snot ran from my nose and my airway was on fire when they finally dragged my pitiful arse off the bus blindfolded and handcuffed.


They half-marched, half-dragged me, steering me by the scruff of my neck into a building and threw me to the ground. I lay face down with my hands above my head. I thought I was on my own until I heard a guard say, ‘Ah, Col.’ I allowed myself a little laugh, as did a few others. Col hadn’t lasted 10 minutes before they had found his name on his epaulettes. We all copped a solid kick in the guts for laughing.


After about four hours lying face down on the floor, I was hauled to my feet, shoved into a room and forced into a chair. A senior soldier was seated on the other side of the desk. He was very matter of fact and seemed only to want to process me. He asked for my personal details and I gave him the usual name, rank, serial number and date of birth. Okay, that seemed to be acceptable. He then asked for an emergency contact, my next of kin.


‘I can’t answer that question, Sir.’


‘But surely you’d like us to tell a family member where you are?’


‘I can’t answer that question, Sir.’


‘You should feel free to talk to me. I want to do all I can for you and I’d like to tell your mother where you are and that you’re okay. So what’s her name?’


‘I can’t answer that question, Sir.’


‘Okay, suit yourself. You will be issued with clothing, so remove all your clothes and put them in this bag.’


I got out of my gear and stood naked in front of the desk, suddenly struck by how bloody cold it was.


‘Okay, sign here. You are being issued with a shirt and pair of trousers,’ he said as he slid the neatly folded garments across his desk.


‘I cannot do that, Sir.’


‘What can’t you do? Sign this form? Surely your army is the same as mine and all items must be accounted for?’ he asked incredulously.


‘I can’t answer that question, Sir.’


‘You do realise that I can’t let you have these warm clothes if you don’t sign the form?’


‘I can’t answer that question, Sir.’


‘So be it. Guard!’


The guard walked through the door. ‘Yes, Sir?’


‘Take this prisoner away.’


The guard grabbed my elbow and shoved my naked arse outside the room where I was cuffed and a pillowcase forced over my head.


The interrogation continued for three days. Once a day (and at different times to confuse us) we were fed a combination of whitebait, lemon grass and potatoes, all served in boiling hot water. We were marched out in small groups holding onto the shoulders of the person in front. We then had to kneel down and a guard lifted our masks just so we could see what we were eating. We were told that if we looked left or right, the food would be removed. We only had a brief period to eat, so it was a matter of shoving as much food into my mouth as quickly as possible, despite the boiling water. When we were finally released from the interrogation, the roof of my mouth and my tongue were burnt and blistered.


During one interrogation session I just about cracked. It was probably my fourth session and I hadn’t signed anything or divulged any information. But this bastard got to me. As I sat there naked wearing only handcuffs, the interrogator sat alongside me and started to rub my nipples with a pencil describing how I could move to his room and keep his bed warm for him at night. Fuck this, I thought. So I grabbed his camouflage shirt by the scruff and pulled him towards me. I released him and tried to punch him with my handcuffed hands. I managed to connect, but it was a pretty ordinary hit and he would have barely felt it. So I grabbed him again and he started yelling, ‘Lunatic! Lunatic!’ Then the walls of the interrogation room erupted as men raced in and grabbed me in a choke hold until I let go. They dragged my naked, sorry arse outside and rushed me back to the holding area. I was only back there for a few minutes enjoying the euphoria of having won that little tussle; I could still hear that fool yelling ‘Lunatic! Lunatic!’ and I chuckled to myself, enjoying my victory. But the feeling was short-lived and naive. I realised that this was probably the end for me and that the last eight weeks of hell had been for nothing. Then two men grabbed me and dragged me backwards out the door and forced me into the boot of a car. No-one said a word and I was thrown around in the boot for about 10 minutes as the car seemed to drive some distance, but probably only did laps around the camp.


When the car stopped and the boot opened, I could sense the bright lights through the pillowcase over my head. I was dragged from the boot and someone told me that I’d committed a terrible offence punishable by death but, due to the commander’s leniency and his dislike for homosexuals, I would only have to walk through the punishment chamber. I sensed that there were a few people around me — maybe six or seven. They put a lasso around my waist and told me to walk. I took very small steps and waited for the kicks and punches to rain down, but only got one kick right in the middle of my back which sent me crashing into a swimming pool. The pool had underwater lights and I could see my pillowcase floating around my head. I tried to surface but struggled to swim while my hands were still cuffed. When I finally managed to break the surface, the wet pillowcase suctioned to my face so I couldn’t take a breath and then someone stood on my head to force me under. I sank back down a few feet and again watched the pillowcase floating around my head. I tried to reach up and pull the pillowcase off my head so I could get a breath, but the lasso around my waste pinioned my elbows to my sides. I grabbed the rope and tried to pull it into the water, but I couldn’t get a proper grip and my tormentors had a good hold of it. I was hurting now and starting to get a little concerned. I hoped the blokes on the side of the pool weren’t having an in-depth discussion and wouldn’t forget that there was some loser at the bottom of the pool. This was getting serious. I thought I was fucked and rapidly ran out of air. My lungs started to heave and pulsate and tried to force me to open my mouth and take a breath of water. I opened my mouth and the water sat there just waiting for me. Just when I thought my lungs would win, I was pulled from the water by the lasso.


As I struggled for air beneath the pillowcase, I was dragged to my feet and forced to run. Again the wet pillowcase clung to my face and limited my air supply, so every 10 paces I just ran out of air and fainted. My escorts flapped the opening of my pillowcase until I came around, and then I ran 10 more paces before collapsing again. My feet ached. I’d been wearing boots almost continuously for the past four weeks so my feet were soft, and running blindly on gravel bloody hurt. I’m glad the interrogators didn’t ask me any further questions at that time. I guess I would have hung on knowing that this was just an exercise, but I was a wreck. I also realised that fighting an interrogator was foolish and I’d probably be lucky if I passed this process.


Six hours later and I was back in the interrogator’s chair. After the swim in the pool I was given a pair of very loose cotton pyjamas bottoms that had no elastic in the waist so I had to hold them up with my handcuffed hands. This interrogator was a woman and introduced herself as Comrade someone or rather. She was very official and barely looked up as the guards pushed me into the room.


‘Lance Corporal Jordan, I’m going to ask you some questions and you will answer them.’


She looked up at me expectantly, but I said nothing.


‘Is that clear?’


‘Jordan, Lance Corporal, 25th of March 19…’


‘Yes, yes, yes,’ she said, cutting me off from giving the reply required under the Geneva Convention. She studied me for a few minutes while I watched her. She was quite a nice-looking woman and I wondered if that was part of this interrogation session.


‘What are you doing with your hands?’ she asked, but didn’t wait for my reply. ‘Put your hands above your head.’


If I did that, my pants would fall down. So I spread my legs and raised my arms above my head. My spread legs secured my pyjamas. ‘Put your feet together,’ she ordered, continuing to study me. Damn. I put my feet together and tried to lock my pyjama bottoms by squeezing my legs together. They fell a little, but still concealed my kit.


‘Jump up and down.’


I should have told her to get fucked, but this was a test, and I was probably on thin ice given my last effort, so I just did it and that was the end of my pyjamas. They went straight to my ankles. So there I am jumping up and down with all the kit bouncing around. I would also say in my defence that it was very cold this particular evening.


‘Stop jumping. Are all Australians built like that?’ Again, she didn’t wait for answer, but shook her head. ‘Right, you were captured at this location. What were you doing there?’


Away we went and I started my usual Geneva Convention reply while periodically being forced to jump up and down with the Comrade watching me. After an hour of this I was marched back to the waiting area and forced to kneel on my board.


My board was my home for the duration of the interrogation phase. It was where I spent my time between sessions. It was about 30 centimetres wide and 150 centimetres long. Under foot I could feel that it was made of two lengths of rough-cut timber nailed to two cross members underneath. I couldn’t see the other guys but knew they were in the room with me and were also kneeling. Prior to my arrival in the holding room, the guard tapped the bell twice which meant we had to kneel.


A few hours later I was abruptly dragged from my board and frogmarched outside. I was keen to get outside as identifying the position of the sun in the sky would help me with direction and the time of day. It had been dark when the Comrade got a look at my kit and now the sun was high in the sky. I was forced to walk quickly over the rough road for about three or four minutes before suddenly being ordered to stop, with the added warning, ‘Don’t move!’


I heard something being shifted; it sounded like a steel lid being opened. Then they grabbed me and pushed me down until I fell into a hole and I heard the steel lid sound again. I was able to spin around and sit in a tight ball, but when I lifted my head, I hit the steel lid. As I raised my eyes, I could see the shadows of my guards looking down at me and the steel grate trapping me in this hole. Then someone called down to me, ‘I want the names of the men in your patrol. You would be well advised to give them to me. When you do, I will let you out. Do you understand me?’


‘Jordan, Lance Corporal … ah fuck,’ I mumbled as a torrent of water smashed into me. I must have been sitting under a hydrant or something, as the pressure was intense. I dropped my head and took the jet in the back of my neck. I concentrated on each breath, as the pillowcase quickly become drenched, making it difficult to breathe. Then I thought of that boiling hot meal I had a few hours ago and how I had wiped my hands on the pillowcase and it occurred to me that this water would wash away those stains. Bizarre, but this was enough to make me laugh. I thought this situation was pretty hilarious, but my laughing stopped when I noticed that the water was getting pretty bloody high now. The top of the water was touching my chin and I thought they’d have to turn it off soon. I looked up at them as my interrogator yelled, ‘Well?’ Give me the names, Jordan!’


I couldn’t be arsed with the spiel, so I said nothing and the water kept coming. Now it was so high that I had to push my mouth up through the grate to get some air. Every part of me was under water except my pillowcase-covered mouth. I could see the silhouette of the interrogator looking down on me. He was probably yelling, but my ears were under water and the noise of the water jet smashing into my forehead ensured that I couldn’t hear a thing. Just as my neck muscles started to protest at the strain, the hydrant was turned off and the water started to subside. The grate was removed and my trusty guards dragged me out so fast I nearly left my pyjama bottoms in the pit.


Eventually, after 72 hours, the same guys who took us hostage rescued us and it was all over. One person had failed this phase, but the rest of us passed and moved onto the next course in the selection process. The best thing about the interrogation process was that it set a new benchmark for doing it tough and, for the rest of my time in the SAS, it would remain an unbeatable benchmark. If I could survive the interrogation phase, I could pretty much do anything.


So now this ugly, old, angry prick is going to have to try harder if he thinks I’m going to play his game. Obviously he doesn’t know that abuse is the easiest form of interrogation to reject. However, the previous stuff with the SAS was training and the reality was that they weren’t going to kill me, although they seemed to want to at the time. But this was real and I needed to get my game head on and get out. I noted the sheepish man to the left of the angry man trying to calm him and wasn’t happy when words like ‘terrorist’ and ‘mother fucker’ were used and he certainly didn’t like it when I was called a ‘cunt’.


Again the angry man pushed his recording device in my face and demanded to know if I had my passport on me. I turned my head and ignored him. He yelled something in Hindi and told me I’d committed a terrible criminal offence, and then they left the room to discuss the matter.


‘Ujjwal, hide all your money,’ I said as I fumbled through my pack to hide my passport and money.


‘Paul, maybe we should run for it,’ Uhwal suggested with a note of concern in his voice.


‘There are too many cops around, mate. If one of us gets caught, we are both done. Besides, we haven’t actually done anything wrong.’


Then a local man entered the room. He told Ujwal that this had happened before and he should just pay the immigration officer 500 rupees each and we’d both be released. I knew it. The yelling was designed to force the price up a bit, but I’d pay the 500 rupees and then kick myself in the arse later.


We waited a little while longer and the local came back again and told Ujwal not to make the payment as they were talking about taking us to the police station. The angry man came back into the room and had a photographer with him. He tried to take my photo, but I kept turning my head. The angry man yelled at me to turn and face the camera and, as I turned to refuse, the flash went off and they both retreated outside again. Excellent. Now the prick has a photo of me.


They came back after a few minutes and told us we were going to the police station. When we left the immigration office I again thought of running, but there were a couple of police too close to be certain of success and if they caught me I’d really be in trouble. We were both placed in separate rickshaws and travelled about two kilometres further into India to the police station. They made Ujwal pay for the rickshaws. I noted that the angry man hadn’t come with us. The short, sheepish man had come and had been joined by another, stern-looking man who wore an expression of someone who had been insulted and was preparing for revenge.


We pulled up outside an old, dilapidated building. The only thing suggesting its role as a police station was the ancient World War II jeep parked out the front with a blue light bolted to the roof. We were ushered into the Police Station Commander’s office where Sub-Inspector Jai Shankar was sitting behind his desk. He looked at me with some amusement as though he couldn’t wait to hear the serious crime I’d committed. He was a well-presented man, immaculately dressed as if awaiting a uniform inspection. He had short, well-trimmed hair and a pencil-thin moustache. The sheepish immigration officer outlined very quietly what we’d done and then Ujwal told our side of the story. As Ujwal spoke, the Sub-Inspector glanced at me from time and then, when he was almost finished, the Sub-Inspector’s face assumed an expression of disgust. His pencil-thin moustache started to curl with the shape of his upper lip and a light sheen of sweat appeared on his forehead. He turned to the sheepish immigration guy and the other guy with the pissed-off look on his face and let them have it with both barrels. He stood and screamed at them while poking his finger in their chests. They both shrank and, for a minute, I thought the Sub-Inspector was going to start beating them. The look on the face of the pissed-off guy quickly changed into one of pleading: ‘Oh God, please don’t hit me, master!’ I reeled back and nearly fell off my chair wondering what the hell had just happened. ‘Ujwal, what’s going on?’


‘He’s yelling at them for bringing you here because now he must follow due process. He’s saying that they should have just pushed you back over the border, but now they have caused you too many problems.’ They both looked like scolded children as they agreed to their mistake. Bit bloody late, you pair of arseholes, I thought.


The Sub-Inspector picked up his vintage desktop dial phone and spoke to the Superintendant of Police (SP) Siddiqui and explained the situation. He told the SP that we were not carrying any illegal substances and had strayed by accident across the border into India. The SP insisted on due process being followed. At the same time, the angry man tried to enter the police station to speak to me, but was told by the local police to bugger off. I later learnt that he wasn’t an immigration official after all, but an informer for the SP. Had this bastard not been around, the immigration officer would’ve taken the 500 rupees and I’d be back in my hotel room by now. Apparently the angry man wanted to see me to ask for money to get me out of this situation. So the prick got me in the shit and then was denied access to get me out of it. In hindsight I should have attempted to control things better and slowed the situation down so I could determine accurately who was who. Instead I tried to be a smart arse — but then there had been nothing to suggest that the guy wasn’t an immigration officer.


I sent a text to Sallie Stone, my partner and General Manager of the company I worked for, and told her I’d been detained at Jogbani police station but that everything would probably be okay. She thought I was an idiot and had a chuckle about my stupidity. Fair enough, I deserved to have the piss pulled out of me.


I’d been at the police station now for two hours and was starting to get mildly concerned. I pretended to be sick, hoping this might push things along a little, but it didn’t. Ujwal continued to work like a champion trying to get them to see sense, but something was holding the process back. Finally, the Sub-Inspector came to Ujwal and me and said that he was taking us back to my hotel in Nepal to check my passport and Nepali visa, and to confirm with the hotel staff that I really had been conducting journalist training in Nepal and that I actually wasn’t a terrorist.


We got into the back of the old jeep parked out the front and headed back to Nepal. I sat in the back with the Sub-Inspector while Ujwal sat in the front with the elderly sergeant driver. Once we were on our way, the Sub-Inspector turned to me and said in a very serious manner, ‘Mister, we will first visit the Nepal police out of courtesy, then go to your hotel to check your story. This is normal due process.’ I nodded in agreement. He continued, ‘When my investigation is complete, you must return with me to the border so I can inform the SP that all is in order, then you can go. Do you understand this requirement?’


‘Yes.’


‘Do not worry Mister, all will be okay,’ he said, smiling at me.


I thought my concern must have been written all over my face, so I relaxed my facial muscles slightly and began a conversation about the police, his rank and his equivalent in Australia. As we crossed the border I asked the Sub-Inspector to show me where the border markers were. He pointed to a raised boom gate jammed up behind a building and a clump of mango trees and said that we were now in no man’s land. I told him that the hidden boom gate had been impossible to see from the rickshaw which had approached from the other direction. He agreed.


Just over the border, the Sub-Inspector stopped at the Nepali police station and explained the situation. The Nepali Inspector looked at me as if I was a condemned criminal and agreed to follow us. By the time we arrived at the hotel I had an entourage of about 20 police from two different countries.


At the hotel, the staff went into meltdown at the sight of all these cops. They walked around me quietly and stared more than usual. I raced to my room to pretend to get the passport that I actually had with me. The Sub-Inspector examined my passport thoroughly and then asked for it to be photocopied. The hotel workers were interviewed and confirmed that I’d been living there while working for three days teaching journalists.


Ujwal asked the hotel manager to bring food and drinks for the police because I wasn’t confident about the situation and wanted to soften the coppers up a bit by filling their (generally) fat guts with food and drink. Several of my former students arrived to offer support. They were great and all told me not to worry, that it would be sorted.


While all this eating, drinking and in-depth discussion was going on, I was up and down the stairs to my hotel room pretending to be suffering from chronic diarrhoea. While in my room I also took time to update Sallie. It was very early in the morning for Sallie, so I told her it was all sorted and she should get some rest. Ujwal appeared at my hotel room with some former students and said it was time to return to the border.


‘I’m not going anywhere, I’m staying here,’ I said. ‘You guys can go back to the border, but I’m not.’


They all looked concerned and said it would be better for me to go back and show that I’m an honest person, and that if I didn’t go back, the Nepali police would have to arrest me. I walked downstairs and the Sub-Inspector could see my reluctance and told me not to worry as all was in order. So back we went. Once again, I informed Sallie of my movements.


At the border, the Sub-Inspector used the phone at the immigration building to contact the SP, but seemed to be having problems getting through. I stood with Ujwal and the Nepali police who had become my number one supporters. They told me not to worry because the SP owed them a favour and they were calling it in. My Nepali journalist friends were putting some weight on the Nepali police, as they owed the journalists a few favours. I was fortunate that I had so many contacts who had contacts and most were calling in favours on my behalf. The Sub-Inspector approached our group and told Ujwal that he couldn’t get through to the SP and that we’d have to go to the police station. This was not good news, so I told the Sub-Inspector that I’d wait here with the Nepali police. No, that wasn’t happening and I had to go back to the bloody cop shop as well. I delayed and spoke to the Nepali police who said their SP was on the way to assist. But eventually I had to get into the police car and accompany the Sub-Inspector back to the police station.


At the police station we waited and waited. The Nepali Inspector and his boss in Nepal continually harassed the Indian SP to let us go, arguing that it was a minor issue and just a waste of everyone’s time. The Sub-Inspector also told the SP that there was nothing in this and he should let me go. At this time I also had about 10 former students with me, and a few Indian journalists whom I’d never met, all trying to assist in some way. I was starting to become concerned, but continued to feel like a real dick. I hated that I had put myself in this position. Periodically I walked into the Sub-Inspector’s office to ask when I could go back to my hotel. He’d tell me it would just take a little time; just a little more time.


At about 10.00 pm the Sub-Inspector called me into his office and asked me if I knew the phone number for the Australian High Commission in New Delhi. Oh shit, now this is big. I didn’t know the High Commissioner in India but, having previously worked as the security adviser to the Australian High Commission in Islamabad, Pakistan, I did know the number for the High Commissioner there. I wasn’t sure if she was still there, but I needed someone to call the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) in Canberra and tell them that I needed a hand. I managed to get through to the High Commissioner in Pakistan who, despite being at an official function, took my call and agreed to call back very soon. She did and I explained the situation. The High Commissioner was true to her typically professional form. She was precise and direct in her response, agreeing to call the right people in Canberra. I felt bloody embarrassed having to call anyone for help because I’m normally the one being called, and I normally help people in situations like this — or at least teach them how to avoid situations like this. I decided that I might have to attend my own class!


I sent a text to Sallie telling her I was now being officially arrested. Sallie, being totally organised, had the DFAT contact details prepared and rang them straight away. I also sent a text to the Chief Operations Officer from my company, asking if he had any contacts in this part of the world. He wanted to know if this was a serious situation. I said it was now and he agreed to start contacting his network in India and seek their intervention. Five minutes later, I received a call from DFAT and the lady said both the High Commissioner in Pakistan and Sallie had contacted her.


Ten minutes later, a consular official named Craig from the Australian High Commission in India called. His advice, once I explained what had happened, was to try to get out of this as soon as possible, to do what needed to be done to resolve this situation because, in his experience, it could reach a point at which it would have gone too far to be easily resolved.


‘Have you been charged yet?’ Craig asked.


‘Not that I’m aware of, but they’ve just told me that I will go to court tomorrow in Araria,’ I replied.


‘Okay, we will try to help with legal representation. Have you signed anything yet?’


‘No, and I won’t be at this stage, but could you send a letter to the Superintendent of Police in Bihar explaining that I am an Australian citizen and I have your support?’


I gave Craig the number for the SP and the Jogbani police station. Craig advised me, ‘You need to be aware that the Australian Government will not interfere with the legal processes of any country, despite how ludicrous the situation or charge might be. All the government can do is see that you receive legal representation, let the local authorities know we are interested in this matter, and ensure you are treated fairly. This means that you must be treated no worse than any other person arrested.’ ‘That’s great,’ I said. It was nice to know I had the support of the Australian government when I needed it, I thought. ‘Whatever you can do, Craig, will be appreciated.’


It was now well after 10.00 pm and my Nepali journalist friends and police had to leave so that they could get their vehicle back across the border. They promised to return in the morning. They told me that I would be fronting the court in the morning at Araria, some 90 minutes’ drive south. Naively, I asked what time I’d be in court, as I still thought I’d be able to make the flight to the next training venue at 1.00 pm. ‘You will be in court around 10.00 and we will leave here at 8.30,’ the Nepali police inspector told me. They left, promising to return in the morning to accompany me to court.


Ujjwal remained behind with another Nepali journalist to keep me company. I told them it wasn’t necessary and that they should go to the hotel and get a good night’s sleep, but they insisted. We sat around some more in front of the police station with a few coppers hovering about. I entertained the idea of escaping, but knew that it would be useless. I had no doubt that I could make it back to my hotel, but what then? The Nepali police, despite their support for me, would be left with no choice but to arrest me and return me to India. Then I’d really be in the shit. I still believed that this was a joke and surely someone of authority would step in, slap a few heads, and order my release and return to Nepal.


It was now 11.00 pm. It was beyond hot and very humid. I was exhausted and in desperate need of sleep. We were invited by the Sub-Inspector to dine at his house, but I needed a curry meal right now like a needed a solid kick in the balls. Despite this, with Ujwal and the other guy in tow, I wandered over to the Sub-Inspector’s house and we sat on stools in a courtyard. Under instructions, a boy ran away and prepared food. We just sat there in silence. The Sub-Inspector had changed into a very long shirt (like a Pakistani shalwar kameez), but I sat there in the clothes I’d worn all day and sweated some more. The food arrived but, due to a power blackout, I couldn’t see what it was, so I ate very little. The boy handed around glasses of water and, while I gratefully accepted it, there was no way I was going to drink it. Then the Sub-Inspector finally spoke.


‘Don’t worry, mister, you will be okay, I will not lock you in the cells tonight. Instead, I will supply you with a bed. Don’t worry, you will be comfortable,’ he said, trying his best to be reassuring.


‘Thank you, Inspector, but with all due respect, you have been telling me not to worry since we first met. You told me in the car that it would be okay. The Nepali police have been telling me that it would be okay and my Nepalese friends have been saying the same, yet I’m still here and all because I mistakenly wandered a few metres across the border. So, I am worried, Sir, very worried.’


At midnight we were led back to the police station and to the Sub-Inspector’s office. This was where we were going to sleep and a sheet was laid out on the floor as a bed. No pillows were supplied, but they did turn on the fan so that, when the power finally returned, we might have a breeze. It was still unbelievably hot and sticky. Ujwal and the other guy made themselves comfortable on the floor and seemed to fall asleep within minutes. I lay down but, despite being beyond shattered, I couldn’t sleep. My mind was racing with concern tinged with a level of embarrassment for having allowed myself to fall into this situation. The process of reliving the day started, as did the continual self-inflicted kicks in the arse. The insects started to bite and that momentarily took my mind off my situation, but only momentarily. Damn, it was hot. I felt as if I was on patrol in the jungle. When you’re wearing all your kit for a 14-day patrol and you first walk into the jungle, the humidity and heat under the canopy is horrendous — it’s like walking into a wall of heat and humidity. Your sweat glands hardly get time to open as the sweat rushes out to fight off the assaulting furnace. The sweat comes so fast it actually hurts as the sweat pores are forced open and some people contract prickly heat — a rash on the skin caused by swollen sweat glands. In minutes you’re soaked through with sweat and you spend the rest of the day fighting to replace the lost fluid.




4.


STANDBY PATROL


In the SAS, one of the squadrons maintains a standby patrol to respond at a moment’s notice to any global or domestic threats involving Australians or Australian interests. A few years ago, I was fortunate enough to be the Squadron Standby Patrol Commander. We’d just returned from a two-week troop exercise to the Nullarbor Plain and were cleaning weapons behind the Q store when my Troop Commander approached me. ‘Are you the Standby Patrol Commander?’


‘Yes,’ I replied, picturing myself doing a night parachute jump into some shit hole in the middle of nowhere as part of some bullshit exercise.


‘The OC [Officer Commanding] wants to see you.’


The OC was a pretty good bloke, known as a bit of a micro-manager, but one of the smartest men I knew and I thought he was a bloody good boss. I’d known the OC for nine years; we’d done our selection the same year and had developed a pretty good working relationship.


Straight away the other blokes started suggesting an overseas trip and calling me a lucky bastard. Overseas trips were few and far between, so everyone was keen to get on whatever was going. I made my way back through the Q store, walked up the stairs and headed down the hallway to the OC’s office. It was getting too close to the end of the year to be carried away with this warry stuff.


The blokes were right. The OC told me that my patrol was being deployed to an Asian country on an exercise with an Asian Special Forces unit. I’d heard some terrible stories about these exercises, but an overseas trip is an overseas trip, so I was prepared to make the most of it. The squadron had deployed a patrol a few months before to Rwanda as part of the United Nations Assistance Mission, so everyone was pissed off that they had missed out on that and we’d heard that only patrol medics would be going on the next trip. While I was a trained patrol medic, my job was now patrol commanding, leaving the patrol medic work to the newer blokes. So, for now, this trip was as good as it was going to get for me.


It was Thursday and we were leaving on Tuesday morning. So I got together with my 2IC (second-in-command) Tony. Tony was a good soldier and mate; we had both come from the 1st Battalion and had completed the SAS selection course together. We put our heads together and finalised all the logistics associated with sending a patrol overseas for three weeks. I warned out the rest of the patrol who were more excited about flying business class than anything else.


My scout was John, who was also the patrol linguist. John had been a mechanic before completing the selection course and transferring to the Infantry Corps. In fact, John was one the few blokes to have successfully completed the selection course twice. The first time, he had indicated that he wanted to remain a mechanic and was marked accordingly. Then he decided he wanted to join one of the squadrons as a trooper, so he was forced to do the selection course again. Despite getting a fair bit of shit hung on him for being a loser, it was a real credit to him and the fact that he had successfully completed a bloody tough course twice showed just how determined he was. Most soldiers are unable to do it once. John was a bushy and had a real Paul Hogan Aussie accent. He wasn’t a big bloke — maybe 5 feet 10 inches (177 centimetres) — but he was strong and spent a lot of time in the gym building muscle. Despite being under 30, he had more lines on his face than a topographical map of the Grand Canyon. Now he was learning the skills of being a scout.


Stuart was the signaller. He was the tallest bloke in the patrol, so I should have made him the scout so he could clear all the cobwebs for me. As the sig, Stuart had the most important job in the patrol — a sig who can’t get comms is useless, and if the patrol can’t communicate with Squadron Headquarters, then it’s a wasted asset and of no use to anyone. So Stuart carried the radio and most of the spare batteries and had the heaviest load. Despite this, he could walk faster and for longer under load than anyone I knew. Stuart was new to the Regiment as was Cleave the patrol medic.


Cleve was part North American Indian and a real chick magnet. On the training we’d just completed in Kalgoorlie we managed to get a night off and had a few beers in the local pub. A group of young ladies walked in and, within five minutes, they were all gathered around Cleve making cow eyes at him. It was an amazing phenomenon to watch and damned painful for the single blokes in the troop. To try to keep Cleve’s ego in check, the rest of the blokes gave him the nickname ‘dances with pigs’. But the reality was that he was dancing with Vogue models. Cleve had not long before completed the patrol medic’s course, so was still adapting all that knowledge to the requirements of the patrol.


Everything went smoothly, with most of the pre-deployment work completed by the Regimental Headquarters before we knew anything about the deployment. We packed a trunk which contained the patrol radio, two hand-held emergency radios, spare radio batteries, spare weapon-cleaning material, a primary and secondary weapon each and any spare equipment required to make our limited stay in their barracks a bit easier. We sent the trunk to Perth airport one day in advance so it could be sent as cargo.


We caught a direct flight from Perth to a dry (non-alcoholic) country. The flight was smooth (except for Cleve getting stuck with a big fat woman who chewed his ear off the whole way) and a Special Forces Warrant Officer met us on arrival. He was a great bloke and we ended up spending a lot of social time with him. We collected our kit and waited for our trunk to arrive, but for some reason they had put it on another plane and it wasn’t going to arrive until the next day, so we boarded a small van and headed towards the barracks.


We decided we were bloody hungry after the flight, so I asked the Warrant Officer if we could stop for something to eat.


‘Huh?’ he answered, looking as if I was now speaking Swedish.


‘Food — we’re hungry.’


‘Ahhhh … huh,’ he replied, with a look of confusion.


Damn, how hard can this be? So I started using hand gestures and pretending to spoon food into my mouth. Again he shrugged his shoulders like I was trying to explain Pythagoras theory to a preschool kid. Alright, time to get John, our linguist, involved.


‘Hey, John, come and ask the Warrant Officer if we can stop for a feed somewhere.’


‘Okay.’


He turned to the Warrant Officer.


‘Sir, can we stop for something to eat?’ asked John in fucking English. ‘Oh, food! Okay, no problem,’ replied the Warrant Officer in bloody English. John leant back and looked at me as if the two of them had just had some deep conversation in the local language and said, ‘He said he’ll stop somewhere, no problem.’


‘I fucking heard all that. What the hell was that? I thought you were going to speak in the local language.’


John just shrugged.


‘Why? He speaks good English.’


Maybe my English was more like Swahili. The rest of the patrol laughed. After that, John was known as ‘Mother Tongue’.


The Warrant Officer took us to the yacht club where we had a beautiful steak and about a six-pack of beer each. He surprised us with the beer — he’d bought it on the black market. The cold beers went down really well in this humidity. I think we flew to within two miles of the sun — damn, it was hot and sticky. I could have poured the beer over me.


The Warrant Officer drove us to our accommodation block and, by the time we arrived, it was about 10.00 pm. We were on the third floor and had one big room to accommodate all of us. There were five beds with mattresses and enough bedding to be comfortable. We had a cupboard each for our packs and webbing, and a large refrigerator stocked with milk stood in one corner. Next to the fridge was a table that had a hot water jug, plenty of brew gear and some biscuits to snack on. Along the balcony was the bathroom, but there was no hot water for the showers. The natives considered it a waste given that the temperature was always above 30 degrees. The toilets were just a hole in the floor in the shape of a toilet bowl. Next to the hole were two foot pads so you could line yourself up correctly. All in all, the accommodation was good and we had no complaints.


We spent the next day and a half preparing our kit for 16 days in the jungle with the rest of the Special Forces soldiers in the jungle training camp. We were issued 10 days’ rations and, with each ration pack, we were given a bag of rice. We had flares, 300 bullets each, grenades, radios, medical kits, six litres of water, spare clothes, hammocks, hutchies, mosquito nets and mosquito repellent. I always had a particular pair of cams that I liked to wear when out bush — and this was no exception. I laid these cams on my bed and packed the essential lifesaving pieces of equipment into the pockets. Into the pocket on my left sleeve went my camouflage paint compact. Into my left shirt pocket I put my signal mirror and a US Army issue plastic spoon. I tied a can opener to the buttonhole of my pocket. Into my right shirt pocket I put my patrol diary and pen (wrapped in a waterproof wallet to prevent it from deteriorating from the effects of rainwater and sweat) and a pen torch with a red filter. Into my right trouser pocket I put my plastic-covered map, and into my left pocket I put my patrol SOPs (standard operating procedures), some emergency ration chocolate and a 20-round magazine. I placed my compass on top of my shirt. When I get dressed, this will be the first thing to go on. It has a piece of green cord attached to it so I can wear it around my neck. I also had the toe of an army sock threaded over the top of the compass to camouflage it when exposed. All items that could be tied to my pockets were. This prevented things falling out and compromising my patrol’s position. My purpose in packing my clothes with all this shit was to be able to survive in a hostile area should I be separated from both my webbing and my pack. Ideally, this should never happen, but I liked to be prepared for anything.


We weren’t really sure what we were in for once we got into the jungle, so we decided to pack for a 16-day tactical exercise. I loaded my ten 30-round magazines with 28 bullets, and then placed three magazines into the small pouch, and six into the larger pouch, with one magazine to go on my weapon. Into my right-hand pouch I put a red smoke grenade and a small hand-held patrol radio. I carried a large pouch on the back of my webbing which contained some basic weapon cleaning stuff, a strobe light, a torch with a red filter attached, mosquito repellent, personal medical kit and some emergency food. I threw my webbing on the floor and pushed it under my bed with my foot, noting the great pile of shit that I was supposed to squeeze into my pack.


I carried a US Alice Pack which I’d had modified into two compartments so that I could access my sleeping gear without digging through the top of my pack. I packed this bottom compartment first and put my winter-weight sleeping bag into my bivvy bag (a water-resistant bag that will keep the sleeping bag dry when there’s heavy dew and light rain, but not a heavy downpour) and fed it into the sleeping bag compartment. Next to that went my mosquito net, then my hutchie and my hammock. A hammock is an essential piece of equipment in the jungle. It’s not something that’s used every night, but comes in very handy when the patrol has to sleep on a steep slope, in a swamp or in a non-tactical location for any length of time. I then had to break down the rations we’d been given into three meals a day. Breakfast consisted of a small sachet of meat and vegetables that was designed to be mixed with the small portion of rice I had packed, some biscuits, and some brew gear. Lunch was a quick meal and consisted of chocolate, muesli bars and/or biscuits, and dinner was the same as breakfast except that the sachet of food was bigger. Each meal was packed together in a plastic bag with a rubber band wrapped around it. This meant I only had to remove one package from my pack and then close it again so I was ready to bolt if I had to. Six days’ worth of these small parcels of food were packed into the bottom of my pack. On top of the food went my raincoat, a spare set of cams and a pair of socks, both in plastic resealable bags, three water bottles and two spare batteries for the patrol radio. On the outside of my pack I had three pouches in which I put a further four days’ worth of food in two pouches and a water bottle in the other pouch.
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